

Recent deterioration of coral reefs in the Xisha Islands (Paracel Islands) due to multiple disturbances

Jianguang Xiao, Wei Wang, Xiaolei Wang, Peng Tian, Wentao Niu

Third Institute of Oceanography, Ministry of Natural Resources, Xiamen, Fujian, China

Corresponding Author:

Wentao Niu

Daxue Road 178, Xiamen, Fujian, 361005, China

Email address: wentaoniu@tio.org.cn

Abstract

More frequent global warming events, biological disasters, and anthropogenic activities have caused extensive damage to coral reefs around the world. Coral reefs in the Xisha Islands have [been damaged](#) following rounds of heatwaves and crown-of-thorns starfish (CoTS) outbreaks over recent decades. Based on a comprehensive community survey in 2020, we determined a diagnosis for the present state of six coral regions in the Xisha Islands. The findings suggested that these regions had a total of 213 species of scleractinian corals belonging to 43 genera and 16 families. Living coral coverage [across sites](#) was widely divergent and ranged from 0.40% (IQR: 7.74%-0.27%) in Panshi Yu to 38.20% (IQR: 43.00%-35.90%) in Bei Jiao. Coral bleaching prevalence was 23.90% (IQR: 41.60%-13.30%) overall and topped out at 49.30% (IQR: 50.60%-48.10%) in Bei Jiao. Five of the coral regions (all but Yongxing Dao) were under threat of CoTS outbreaks. High mortality [combined with](#) excellent recruitment rates suggested potential rehabilitation after recent deterioration. We employed a quantifiable Deterioration Index (*DI*) to evaluate the intensity of deterioration of coral reefs in the Xisha Islands. The results showed that Yongxing Dao and Langhua Jiao had low recent deterioration ($DI_{recent} = 0.05$, IQR: 0.07-0.02 and 0.04, IQR: 0.11-0.01, respectively), while Bei Jiao, Yongle Atoll, Yuzhuo Jiao, and Panshi Yu had high recent deterioration ($DI_{recent} > 0.16$). Different monitoring sites within the same coral region were heterogeneous [with regards to](#) all above indexes. Moreover, we review, and discuss potential disturbances that threaten the health of the Xisha Islands' corals. It is crucial [to](#) identify severely afflicted areas and find successful methods to [better manage coral reef health in this region](#).

Introduction

Coral reefs worldwide are suffering extensive deterioration as a result of synergic factors including natural catastrophes and anthropogenic disturbances (Halpern *et al.*, 2008; Selig, Casey & Bruno, 2010). Reefs in the Caribbean Sea, Indian Ocean, and [the](#) Pacific region are threatened, and even remote reefs and atolls have not completely been spared (Burke *et al.*,

Deleted: plunged into recession

Deleted: and

Deleted: in

Deleted: ed

Deleted: ed

Deleted: for

Deleted: ing

Deleted: ing

Deleted: control

Deleted: the situation

Deleted: wide

2011). This deterioration can lead to the widespread collapse of healthy coral populations, losses of species richness and coral cover (REF), increases in macroalgae (REF), outbreaks of coral bleaching and disease (REF), and failure to recover from natural disturbances (REF). Coral reefs are losing their immense biodiversity and ecosystem functions, negatively affecting the livelihood and ecosystem services of millions of coastal people (Hughes et al., 2017).

Numerous studies have explored the drivers of coral declines and the links between climate change, human activities, and coral reef ecosystems (Hughes et al., 2003; Alvarez-Filip et al., 2011; Jackson et al., 2014; Hoegh-Guldberg et al., 2017). It is widely recognized that global threats such as ocean warming and acidification are more powerful and destructive than local threats (Gattuso, Hoegh-Guldberg & Pörtner, 2014). The prime factor, heatwaves caused by global warming, have bleached corals at increasing rates since the 1980s (Morrison et al., 2019). The State of the Global Climate (REF) announced that 2020 was one of the three warmest years on record, during which more than 80% of the ocean experienced marine heatwaves. This caused significant impacts to tropical reefs and even the subtropical fringe reefs. For example, One Tree Island, a potential refuge at the southern part of the Great Barrier Reef (GBR), had corals that were identified as severely bleached in 2020 (Nolan et al., 2021). Ocean acidification is also projected to impact all areas of the ocean with wide-ranging impacts on corals by reducing their growth rates and ability to maintain physical structure (Hoegh-Guldberg et al., 2007; Kroeker et al., 2013). A strong decrease in aragonite saturation state caused by ocean acidification was observed throughout the Greater Caribbean Region (GCR) from 1996 to 2006 (Gledhill et al., 2008). Additionally, sea level rise, hurricanes, and tropical storms are all potentially deleterious to coral reefs (Yates & Moyer, 2010; Yang et al., 2015). Among a variety of local threats,

Acanthaster crown-of-thorns starfish (CoTS) outbreaks are the major contributor to sustained coral loss and degradation in many Pacific regions (Kayal et al., 2012; Baird et al., 2013). On the remote Moorea Island of French Polynesia, for example, high densities of CoTS caused severe coral loss, with more than 96% of living corals killed between 2005 and 2010 (Kayal et al., 2012). Moreover, there is a growing number of maladies that are threatening the health of corals (Woodley et al., 2016). More than 40 coral diseases have been reported, and more than 200 species of reef-building corals are affected by these diseases (Bruckner, 2009). The Caribbean Sea is a hotspot for coral diseases, and over 66% of the world's coral diseases occur within this region (Green & Bruckner, 2000). In the Anthropocene, diverse anthropic stresses including destructive fishing and overfishing, coastal engineering, tourism industry, marine pollution, and eutrophication have aggravated the deterioration (Hughes et al., 2017). Even remote coral reefs located in the Maldives, Chagos Archipelago, Seychelles, Micronesia, and Marshall Islands are threatened by human activities (Burke et al., 2011), and stressors are projected to intensify in coming decades. Due to the above threats as well as interactions among them, the world's coral reefs are projected to be severely compromised by 2070 (Ateweberhan et al., 2013; Morrison et al., 2019).

The Xisha Islands (also known as the Paracel Islands), one of the four groups of islands in the South China Sea, have abundant oceanic coral reefs (Huang et al., 2011). The Status of Coral

Commented [JDR1]: Please add a reference.

Commented [JDR2]: Please add a reference.

Commented [JDR3]: Please add a reference.

Commented [JDR4]: Please add a reference.

Deleted: ,

Deleted: and

Deleted: benefits for

Deleted: an

Commented [JDR5]: Please add a reference.

Deleted: secular

Formatted: Font: Italic

Deleted: .

Deleted: M

Deleted: were

Deleted: that

Deleted: will be gone

Reefs of China, 2019 reported a totally of 251 species of scleractinian corals in the Xisha Islands (Huang, Chen & Huang, 2021). These islands support an immeasurable amount of marine biological resources and ecological services. However, continual disturbances have caused heavy losses to coral reef coverage and structural diversity in the Xisha Islands over past decades. In Bei Jiao, the illegal excavation of giant clams [by WHO](#) caused a loss of 13.3% in coral coverage across two years (Li *et al.*, 2015). Li *et al.* (2018) analyzed data from 2007 to 2016 that indicated dramatic decreases in both species number and coverage due to construction activities, CoTS outbreaks, and coral diseases in Yongxing Dao and Qilian Yu. Coral communities in the Yongle Atoll were in relatively healthy conditions despite destructive fishing and overfishing practices (Zhao *et al.*, 2016). Using survey data of 2006, Huang *et al.* (2011) determined that Huaguang Jiao had the highest biodiversity. By contrast, reefs affected by human activities had lower species richness, and independent reefs, such as Zhongjian Dao and Panshi Yu, were moderately biodiverse (Huang *et al.*, 2011). Corals in Dong Dao suffered from atramentous necrosis disease in 2015 (Huang, Chen & Huang, 2021). In addition to the disturbances described above, high temperature stress and CoTS outbreaks have led to an increase in coral bleaching and mortality events in the Xisha Islands over recent years. For example, heavy ocean warming in the Xisha Islands during the summers of 2014 and 2019 caused mass coral bleaching in Bei Jiao and Yagong Dao (Li *et al.*, 2016; Huang, Chen & Huang, 2021). Meanwhile, CoTS outbreaks relapsed in 2018 in Panshi Yu, Yuzhuo Jiao, and Langhua Jiao, when the density of CoTS reached 400 individuals per hectare. In 2019, the density reached over 1,000 individuals per hectare (Li *et al.*, 2019). Many remote coral reefs have already been degraded despite the local anthropogenic pressures were low or even absent. Evaluating the current health conditions and deteriorative intensity of coral communities in the Xisha Islands has been an urgent task.

There have been many studies assessing the health of coral reefs, and various ecological parameters have proliferated (Díaz-Pérez *et al.*, 2016). Specific parameters such as live coral coverage, coral recruitment, coral bleaching, species richness, and diversity index provide a fundamental diagnostic methodology when exploring the current state of corals (Risk *et al.*, 2001; Brito-Millán *et al.*, 2019). The Deterioration Index (DI) proposed by Ben-Tzvi, Loya & Abelson (2004) takes mortality and recruitment rates into account simultaneously. It can indicate the development trend of the health status in each coral community, not just the current ecological state. DI is different from other complex parameters such as Healthy Reefs Initiative (HRI) and Coral Health Index (CHI), and it is effective for most coral reefs, especially those with insufficient data (Ben-Tzvi *et al.*, 2011). This quantifiable indicator evaluates the intensity of deterioration in order to assess the health of different coral communities.

In this study, we used large-scale stratified surveys to diagnose coral reefs in the Xisha Islands. We hope to [provide](#) a new comprehensive baseline for the remote reefs in the Xisha Islands. Moreover, we introduced DI as a snapshot assessment of deteriorative intensity across different regions. Our results provide evidence to help determine management actions concerning potential stressors.

Deleted: contribute

Deleted: currently

Materials & Methods

Study areas

The Xisha Islands are in the northwest of the South China Sea and southeast of Hainan Island within a marine area of 15°46'N – 17°08'N and 111°11'E – 112°54'E (Fig. 1). They consist of Yongle and Xuande Islands, which are comprised of a total of 39 islands, seven reefs exposed at low tides, and more than eight other submerged reefs. In this study, a total of 44 coral reef monitoring sites were established around six regions (Bei Jiao, Yongxing Dao, Yongle Atoll, Yuzhuo Jiao, Panshi Yu, and Langhua Jiao; GPS coordinates in Table S1). For the accurate and comprehensive view of the health state of these coral reefs, monitoring sites were uniformly scattered in each region to represent the different habitats of the coral communities as much as possible.

Field activities

Field surveys took place from 31 August to 30 September, 2020. We performed three transects of different depths (5, 10, and 15 m) at each site while SCUBA diving. Transects were demarcated using tapelines and deployed parallelly to each other. Each transect (tapeline) was 50 m in length. If the actual distribution depth of corals was less than 15 m, the deepest transect was adjusted appropriately. Point Intercept Transect (PIT) video sampling was conducted following standard procedures (Hill & Wilkinson, 2004), using a 24-megapixel Canon PowerShot G1X Mark III digital camera. In brief, a SCUBA diver held the camera with the lens 0.2 m - 0.3 m away from the tapeline at each site, and swam slowly and uniformly along the tapeline from the starting point. The camera aimed vertically downward and shot the tapeline to record the organisms and substrate below the tapeline. The recording time was at least 10 min until the end of the tapeline. Another diver then took close-up photographs of various corals under the tapeline, and collected some specimens for species identification. Ten 50 cm × 50 cm quadrats were systematically deployed within a range of 2.5 m on both sides of the transects to take pictures using a 20-megapixel Canon PowerShot G7X Mark II digital camera.

Coral health assessment

Video transects were analyzed in laboratory using point sampling techniques, i.e., freezing the video at every 10 cm interval (scale point) to quantify the substrate and organism composition (Sample data in Data S1). Starting from the "0 m" scale point, all scleractinian corals, other sessile organisms (including soft corals, sponges, and sea anemones), dead corals, bleaching corals and substrate (reef-rock, rubble, sand, or mud) at the scale points were assessed until the "50 m" scale point. There was a total of 500 scale points in a transect. The assessment elements including:

a) Species identification. The scleractinian coral species (more than 2 cm) at each 10 cm scale point were interpreted. If it was difficult to identify the species in the video, the coral close-up photographs and the coral specimens were used to assist identification. Corals were identified to their lowest tractable taxonomic level (species) following taxonomic criteria (Huang, 2018; Shi, 2019; Dai & Zheng, 2020).

Deleted: in the

Deleted: low-tide elevations

Deleted: can be found

Deleted: these six regions were laid out in all directions in the Xisha Islands, covering a wide area of shallow waters, and

Deleted: SCUBA diving operated for

Deleted: samples

Deleted: samples

Deleted: the

b) Living coral coverage. The number of all living scleractinian corals (more than 2 cm) at scale points were counted. The number divided by 500 was the living coral coverage rate (%).

c) Coral mortality. The proportion of dead scleractinian corals to the total number of living and dead scleractinian corals at the scale points (%). Recent dead corals (dead within a year) were separated out to confirm the values of recent coral mortality. More specifically, recent dead corals are those that the corallite structures are either white and still intact, or slightly eroded, but identifiable to species. Recently dead skeletons may be covered by sediment or a thin layer of turf algae. Old dead corals are those that the corallite structures are either gone or are covered over by organisms that are not easily removed (McField & Kramer, 2007; sample data in Data S1).

d) Coral bleaching. The proportion of all bleaching scleractinian corals (not dead) to the number of living scleractinian corals at the scale points (%).

e) Coral recruitment. The number of scleractinian coral recruits (less than 2 cm in diameter or height) in quadrats were counted. The number divided by the area of quadrats was the supplement of hard coral, and the unit was ind. m².

Moreover, the Shannon–Wiener diversity index (Shannon, 1948) and Pielou’s evenness index (Pielou, 1966) were also used to compare the assessment results of coral health among different regions.

Disruptive factors

Natural and anthropogenic disturbances were counted and analyzed. Daily Sea Surface Temperature (SST) and Degree Heating Week (DHW) data were downloaded from Unidata (UCAR Community Programs, <https://www.unidata.ucar.edu>) and processed in MATLAB R2019a (MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA, USA). Daily 5km Regional Virtual Stations Product from Coral Reef Watch (NOAA, <https://coralreefwatch.noaa.gov>) for the Xisha Islands was also utilized. The number of all CoTS within 1 m of each side of the transects was counted to assess their damaging effects. Moreover, diverse anthropic activities at the monitoring sites were also recorded.

Recent deterioration analysis

We used the Deterioration Index (*DI*) to quantify the intensity of deterioration of coral communities among different monitoring sites and regions. The cardinal principle is that when a coral community state is stable, the *DI* value is expected to be low, and when a community is in decline, the *DI* will be high (Ben-Tzvi, Loya & Abelson, 2004). In this study, we made some adjustments that differed from the original definition under the same formula:

$$DI = \frac{DC}{DC + LC} \bigg/ \frac{SC}{LC}$$

where *DC* is the number of dead scleractinian corals at scale points, *LC* is the number of living scleractinian corals at scale points, and *SC* is the number of small detectable living scleractinian corals (up to 2 cm) in 10 quadrats. We calculated a *DI*_{recent} value using the number of recently dead scleractinian corals to reflect the recent development of coral reefs.

Statistical analyses

Deleted: analysis

232 We summarized the assessment elements using the median (with InterQuartile Range, IQR: Q₁-
 233 Q₃) as opposed to the mean, by reason of the nonnormal data in the present study. Considering
 234 the small sample size in the present study, nonparametric bootstrap *F*-test with a pooled
 235 resampling method were applied (Dwivedi, Mallawaarachchi & Alvarado, 2017). The bootstrap
 236 sample was the same size as the original dataset and was built using sampling with replacement.
 237 This process was repeated with 1,000 replicates. Statistical analyses were performed in R 4.0.3
 238 (*R Core Team, 2020*) using the “Nonparametric bootstrap *F*-test for comparison of three means”
 239 appendix toolbox (Dwivedi, Mallawaarachchi & Alvarado, 2017), combined with self-written
 240 scripts (R-codes in Data S2).

Deleted: analysis

Deleted: was

241

242 Results

243 Community health

244 A total of 213 scleractinian coral species (belonging to 43 genera and 16 families) were
 245 identified in the Xisha Islands. However, species richness was extremely uneven across different
 246 monitoring sites and regions (Fig. 2, Table 1). Bei Jiao presented the largest number of coral
 247 species, followed by Yongle Atoll, and Panshi Yu contributed the least. The Shannon–Wiener
 248 diversity index showed similar results: Bei Jiao had high species diversity, whereas Panshi Yu
 249 had low species diversity. Pielou’s evenness index results were generally high, ranging from 0.79
 250 (IQR: 0.85–0.78 at Bei Jiao and IQR: 0.85–0.74 at Panshi Yu) to 0.86 (IQR: 0.86–0.82 at
 251 Yongxing Dao, Table 1). Living coral coverage differed greatly across 42 study sites, ranging
 252 from 0.2% to 49.73% (Fig. 2). No live coral was recorded at the survey site SY2 in the Yongle
 253 Atoll and the survey site PS7 in Panshi Yu. There were significant differences in coral cover
 254 across the six regions (nonparametric bootstrap *F*-test, $p = 0.001$). The characteristics of species
 255 richness and living coral coverage were approximately identical. Species richness and living
 256 coral coverage rates of monitoring sites at Bei Jiao, Yongxing Dao and Yongle Atoll (excepting
 257 the survey site SY2) were distributed more evenly than other regions, and northeast was higher
 258 than southwest area at Yuzhuo Jiao and Langhua Jiao. The species richness and living coral
 259 coverage of eastern Panshi Yu were higher than those of other parts of Panshi Yu (Fig. 2). Coral
 260 mortalities were very high, especially in Yuzhuo Jiao (42.00%, IQR: 57.80%–5.85%), Panshi Yu
 261 (34.90%, IQR: 60.10%–25.70%), and Yongle Atoll (15.80%, IQR: 20.90%–11.50%). Recent
 262 coral mortality ranged from 0 to 33.61% (Fig. 2) with a large regional difference (nonparametric
 263 bootstrap *F*-test, $p = 0.015$). In detail, coral mortalities of monitoring sites at Yongle Atoll
 264 (excepting the survey site SY2) and Panshi Yu (excepting the survey site PS7) were distributed
 265 evenly, and the south was higher than north at Yongxing Dao, Yuzhuo Jiao and Langhua Jiao.
 266 The coral mortality of northeastern Bei Jiao was higher than that of other parts of Bei Jiao.
 267 Recent coral mortalities of monitoring sites at Yongxing Dao, Yongle Atoll, Panshi Yu and
 268 Langhua Jiao were more even than those of Bei Jiao and Yuzhuo Jiao. Recent coral mortalities
 269 of monitoring sites at Bei Jiao and Yuzhuo Jiao showed the same trends as coral mortalities (Fig.
 270 2). According to our survey, corals in the Xisha Islands suffered severe bleaching in 2020. The
 271 bleaching rate was 23.90% (IQR: 41.60%–13.30%) overall and topped out at 49.30% (IQR:

Deleted: More detailedly,

Deleted: t

Deleted: presented a situation that

Deleted: that

Deleted: great

Deleted: presented a situation that

Deleted: that

Deleted: just like that of

50.60%-48.10%) in Bei Jiao (Table 1). The six regions had very different coral bleaching rates (nonparametric bootstrap F -test, $p = 0.000$). Coral bleaching prevalences had no obvious variety regulation among different monitoring sites within a specific region (Fig. 2). Coral recruitment in the Xisha Islands was abundant (median 6.67 ind. m⁻², IQR: 8.60 ind. m⁻²-4.27 ind. m⁻², Table 1), and significant differences existed across different regions (nonparametric bootstrap F -test, $p = 0.012$). Coral recruitment was distributed evenly among different monitoring sites within a specific region (Fig. 2).

Recent deterioration

The recent deterioration of coral communities in the Xisha Islands was estimated using D_{recent} values. We found noticeable differences across different monitoring sites and regions (Fig. 3, Table 1). D_{recent} values ranged from 0 to 6.60 across 43 survey sites (the survey site SY2 in the Yongle Atoll was not included because there were no living corals or coral recruits). There were only six survey sites with D_{recent} values greater than 1: two in Bei Jiao, two in the Yongle Atoll, one in Yuzhuo Jiao and Panshi Yu, respectively. The survey site BJ8 had the largest D_{recent} value (6.60). Our results showed that Yongxing Dao and Langhua Jiao had low recent deterioration ($D_{\text{recent}} = 0.05$, IQR: 0.07-0.02 and 0.04, IQR: 0.11-0.01, respectively), while Bei Jiao, Yongle Atoll, Yuzhuo Jiao, and Panshi Yu had high recent deterioration (Table 1).

Multiple disturbances

Multiple external disturbances, including natural and anthropogenic triggers, were detected in the Xisha Islands in 2020, the most severe of these being rapidly increasing sea temperature. Mean SST indicated that coral reefs in the Xisha Islands suffered serious heat stress from June to September, reaching an average of 30°C (Fig. 4A). The DHW curve showed that coral reefs in the Xisha Islands fell into Bleaching Alert Level 1 & 2 phases from the end of July to mid-October, with an aggregated duration of more than 80 days (Fig. 4B). Corals at 93% of the sites were estimated to have died by bleaching (Fig. 2). CoTS outbreak was another important cause of the wide-ranging demise of corals and structural destruction of reefs in the Xisha Islands. During our study in 2020, a total of 163 CoTS were found across 23 monitoring sites (Fig. 5A). The survey site YY in the Yongle Atoll had the highest population density at 29.33 ind. per 100 m². Five coral regions (all but Yongxing Dao) were under threat of CoTS outbreaks. The attacked coral tissues showed signs of bleaching or death (Fig. 5B, C).

Among several types of human activities, dynamite fishing caused the most damage to coral reefs. In this study, we discovered dynamite fishing activities in Yuzhuo Jiao and Panshi Yu that may have increased mortality at these two regions (Table 1). Moreover, diving tourists hunted in Bei Jiao, Yongle Atoll, Yuzhuo Jiao, and Panshi Yu during our surveys. Marine litter appeared occasionally on the seabed at some of the monitoring sites.

Discussion

Given their roles in supporting marine ecosystems, biological diversity, and value to human society, coral reef ecosystems are often a center of attention. In the past 10 years, there have been many studies on the biodiversity and health conditions of the remote atolls in the Xisha Islands

Commented [JDR6]: Variation?

Deleted: was

Deleted: and

Deleted: biggest

Deleted: plunged

Deleted: were destroyed

Deleted: of

Deleted: can

Commented [JDR7]: "were observed hunting with spear guns" etc?

Deleted: s

Deleted: its

Deleted: is usually the

332 (Huang *et al.*, 2011; Yu, 2012; Zhao *et al.*, 2016; Li *et al.*, 2019). Based on historical data and
 333 field investigations, a total of 204 scleractinian coral species were reported in the Xisha Islands
 334 in 2006 (Huang *et al.*, 2011). In this study, we identified a total of 213 species across 43 survey
 335 sites and six coral regions. A recent study by Huang, Chen & Huang (2021) determined that
 336 there were 251 species of scleractinian corals. This shows the great variety of species and
 337 abundant hermatypic coral resources in the Xisha Islands. The median living coral coverage of
 338 the Xisha Islands was 16.50% (IQR: 33.10%-5.74%) in 2020, which was much lower than the
 339 coral cover of a benchmark coral reef at the GBR in 2004 (22.00%, Sweatman, Delean & Syms,
 340 2011; Zhao *et al.*, 2016). The living coral coverage rates in different coral reefs either increased
 341 or decreased slightly when compared to [previously](#) reported data. An investigation of only two
 342 survey sites found that the living coral coverage in Bei Jiao was 50.84% in 2014 (Li *et al.* 2015).
 343 In this study, the median living coral coverage of Bei Jiao was 38.20% (IQR: 43.00%-35.90%),
 344 and ranged from 7% to 49.73% across eight different sites (Fig. 2). The living coral coverage in
 345 Yongxing Dao declined sharply from 46.67% to 5.00% from 2007 to 2016 (Li *et al.*, 2018).
 346 However, our data showed that the living coral coverage in Yongxing Dao was 19.00% (IQR:
 347 19.50%-18.00%) in 2020 (Table 1). The coral cover in the Yongle Atoll was 25.50% (IQR:
 348 32.50%-16.50%) in 2020, which was also better than the coverage in 2013 (18.00%, Zhao *et al.*,
 349 2016). Moreover, a good level of coral recruitment (median 6.67 ind. m⁻²) also indicated the
 350 [relative](#) “health” of corals in the Xisha Islands (Healthy Reefs Initiative, 2008). In fact, coral
 351 recruitment in the Xisha Islands increased annually after 2015, reaching 3 ind. m⁻² in 2019, and
 352 some islands such as Lingyang Jiao and Jinqing Dao in the Yongle Atoll reached 5 or 6 ind. m⁻²
 353 (Li *et al.*, 2019). In 2020, Yongle Atoll’s coral recruitment was 8.53 ind. m⁻² (IQR: 10.50 ind. m⁻²-
 354 7.20 ind. m⁻²), and Langhua Jiao’s reached 7.80 ind. m⁻² (IQR: 9.63 ind. m⁻²-6.87 ind. m⁻²) (Table
 355 1). These indicators mentioned above seem to indicate that the coral communities in the Xisha
 356 Islands were in a relatively healthy state, [although](#) the truth is that the coral reefs in the Xisha
 357 Islands have been suffering extensive deterioration over recent years when we take Deterioration
 358 Index (DI) [values](#) into account.

Deleted: the

359 Coral reefs in the Xisha Islands have been under pressure [due](#) to complex reasons but
 360 currently, the most urgent challenges are rising temperatures and coral predators (Wu *et al.*,
 361 2011; Li *et al.*, 2016; Li *et al.*, 2019). Since 1998, the frequency, intensity, and duration of heat
 362 stress events have worsened as global warming increased, thereby increasing the impact of these
 363 events on coral reefs and other marine systems around the world (Heron, Eakin & Douvère,
 364 2017; Hughes *et al.*, 2018; Eakin, Sweatman & Brainard, 2019; Morrison *et al.*, 2019). The most
 365 recent mass coral bleaching event from 2016 to 2017 caused unprecedented damage to nearly all
 366 coral reefs. In Australia, studies have shown that about 93% of the GBR was bleached (Heron,
 367 Eakin & Douvère, 2017). Reefs in the Chagos Archipelago, central Indian Ocean, suffered
 368 severe bleaching and mortality, [and](#) their coral cover decreased from 30% to 12% in 2016 (Head
 369 *et al.*, 2019). The Maldives experienced major bleaching, with 73% of corals bleached across 71
 370 survey sites (Ibrahim *et al.*, 2017). The Pacific Island nations of Palau and the Federated States
 371 of Micronesia were also ravaged by this mass coral bleaching event (NOAA, 2016). Even Sesoko

Deleted: s

Deleted: o

Island, Okinawa, a high latitude region, saw the bleaching of 99.2% of its colonies in 2016 (Sakai, Singh & Iguchi, 2019). Coral bleaching events have also been recorded in the Xisha Islands in 2014 and 2019 (Li et al., 2016; Huang, Chen & Huang, 2021). 2020 was announced as one of the three warmest years on record, signifying a new round of mass coral bleaching. Anomalous temperatures at the beginning of 2020 caused widespread bleaching across the GBR, extending to those previously less-affected reefs such as in One Tree Island, and almost half of the surveyed live hard coral cover was bleached (Nolan et al., 2021). Similarly, in 2020, the worst known coral bleaching affected the Xisha Islands, with a median of 23.90% bleaching prevalence (Table 1). The mean SST of the Xisha Islands from June to September 2020 was 30.12°C, which was 1.05°C above the mean value of the region's previous record for the same period from 1990 to 2020. Moreover, IPCC-RCP4.5 forecasted that the global-mean temperature will increase 2.4°C by 2100, which exceeds the level of warming (1.5°C) that can induce severe degradation of a great majority of coral reefs (Frieler et al., 2013; Schleussner et al., 2016). Against the backdrop of global warming, coral bleaching in the Xisha Islands may become a normal occurrence in the future.

Additionally, the Xisha Islands are now in the middle of their second CoTS outbreak. During the first outbreak of 2007 – 2009, the mean density of CoTS reached 255 ind. 100 m² in the ecological monitoring area (Wu et al., 2011). Since 2018, a new CoTS outbreak has developed. In Panshi Yu, Yuzhuo Jiao and Langhua Jiao, the mean density of CoTS was 4 ind. per 100 m² in 2018 and increased to 10 ind. per 100 m² in 2019 (Li et al., 2019). In 2020, although the density of CoTS was 0.33 ind. per 100 m² (IQR: 0.67 ind. per 100 m²–0 ind. per 100 m²) across 43 survey sites, the survey site YY in the Yongle Atoll reached a staggering density of 29.33 ind. per 100 m² (Fig. 5A). This was far beyond the tolerable limit for a healthy coral reef (0.15 ind. per 100 m², Moran & De'ath, 1992). Li et al. (2019) showed that the cycle of CoTS outbreaks in the Xisha Islands was about 15 years, consisting of a 5-years outbreak period and a 10-years recovery period. Therefore, CoTS in the Xisha Islands will be still in a high-density status over the next two years. Climate change and the decline of natural enemies have accelerated the cycle, and CoTS have become a time bomb threatening the health of Xisha Islands' corals. CoTS, the largest and most destructive predator of scleractinian corals, have broken out four times since the 1960s (Pratchett et al., 2017). They are the main contributor to sustained declines in coral cover and the degradation of coral reefs at many locations throughout the Indo-West Pacific, such as Australia, Japan, Philippines, French Polynesia, and some island nations in the Indian Ocean (Trapon, Pratchett & Penin, 2011; De'ath et al., 2012). In the GBR, one-third of coral reef damage has been attributed to CoTS predation (Timmers et al., 2012), and in the Ryukyu Archipelago, at least two rounds of CoTS outbreaks have decimated corals (Nakamura et al., 2014). Unfortunately, despite more than 30 years of effort, there is neither a clear understanding of the initiation and spread of outbreaks, nor an effective means of intervention (Pratchett et al., 2017).

An improved DI method was employed for the first time to quantify the deteriorative intensity of coral reefs across different regions in the Xisha Islands. Our results showed that DIs

Deleted: Iguchi

Deleted: the triggering of

Deleted: attacked

Deleted: ,

Deleted: more

Deleted: than

Deleted: On the other hand

Commented [JDR8]: What cycle?

Deleted: is

423 in Bei Jiao were extra high ($D_{\text{recent}} = 0.48$, IQR: 1.75-0.13) (Table 1). *Li et al. (2015)* found
 424 that a giant clam excavation in 2012 caused destruction and loss of corals in Bei Jiao. Living
 425 coral coverage fell by 13.3% and coral mortality rose over two years. China's government has
 426 banned the excavation and transaction of giant clams and their processed products since January
 427 1, 2017. According to our survey results, the coral mortality within the period of one year in Bei
 428 Jiao was clearly still too high (3.57%, IQR: 10.90%-1.26%), and we believe global warming to
 429 be largely accountable for this, along with CoTS and dynamite fishing. Yongxing Dao, the
 430 location of Xisha administrative region, showed low deteriorative intensity of coral reefs in this
 431 study ($D_{\text{recent}} = 0.05$, IQR: 0.07-0.02). As previously mentioned, complex factors have
 432 degraded the living coral coverage and coral recruitment in Yongxing Dao over the past decade
 433 (*Li et al., 2018*). However, our results indicated that coral reefs in Yongxing Dao may undergo
 434 rehabilitation following a major disturbance. The *DIs* in this study indicated that Yongle Atoll's
 435 coral reefs were suffering deterioration ($D_{\text{recent}} = 0.50$, IQR: 0.71-0.37), which is a different
 436 conclusion compared to that of *Zhao et al. (2016)*. The coverage of dead coral was very different
 437 (0.80% in *Zhao et al. (2016)* vs. 10.20% in the present study). One possible cause of this could
 438 be the high-density of CoTS at some survey sites in the Yongle Atoll. The recent deterioration in
 439 Yuzhuo Jiao and Panshi Yu should also be noted ($D_{\text{recent}} = 0.32$, IQR: 0.55-0.21 and 0.17,
 440 IQR: 0.71-0.04, respectively), which may be caused by dynamite fishing activities.

441 It is important to highlight the absence of long-term continuous coral reef health reports for
 442 the Xisha Islands. A single survey is laborious to estimate the trend of deterioration. A lack of
 443 baseline data is unfavorable for grading the health states of coral reefs. The Healthy Reefs
 444 Initiative published a series of benchmarks and red flags for the Mesoamerican Reef Region
 445 (*Mcfield & Kramer, 2007*). Based on this, an expected D_{recent} value of the Mesoamerican Reef
 446 Region is 0.12 – 0.16. Using the D_{recent} values, we can get a snapshot assessment of
 447 deteriorative intensity across different regions in the Xisha Islands. In any case, the long-term
 448 data collected systematically over the appropriate geographic scales is crucial to estimate the
 449 health status of coral communities in the Xisha Islands using *DI*. There are, of course, some
 450 disadvantages in this method, which one should be aware of prior to any attempt of applying it.
 451 *DI* cannot reveal changes in the community structure and sometimes the results obtained can be
 452 biased. In summary, it should be stressed that we have no pretension to present the *DI* as an
 453 alternative to all other reef health indices. We propose the *DI* as a fast and easy index, which can
 454 be applicable across diverse coral reefs.

455 Helping coral reefs to keep their health is a profound challenge for managers and scientists.
 456 In this context, reef governance generally includes scientific actions on ecology, economy and
 457 human society (*Hughes et al., 2017*). In Australia, zoning of the GBR marine reserve network
 458 appears to be making major contributions to the protection of coral biodiversity, ecosystem
 459 resilience, and social and economic values (*McCook et al., 2010*). In Caribbean, hundreds of
 460 marine protected area (MPAs) and long-time continuous monitoring have helped managers to
 461 make the right decisions including fisheries management strategies, simplify and standardize
 462 coral monitoring, adaptive legislation and regulations (*Jackson et al., 2014*). In China, at present,

Deleted: in

Deleted: ,

Deleted: a

Deleted: .

Deleted:

Deleted: G

Deleted: should be held

Deleted: ic

Deleted: affected

Deleted: And

Formatted: Font: Italic

Deleted: It

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Deleted: in

Deleted: any

476 both the governance and management of coral reefs are typically focused at the local level and
477 on the regulation of proximal drivers (for example, pressure from fishing or nearby coastal
478 development). Learning from the experience of other regions is quite necessary to improve the
479 ability to protect and manage Xisha Islands' coral reefs. For example, it is important to raise
480 citizens' marine environmental consciousness and strengthen marine environment protection,
481 reduce discharging pollutants directly into the sea, establish coral protected areas, enact strict
482 fishing policies, and restore coral reefs. For the start of these processes, scientific assessments of
483 coral health as in the current study are crucial for decision-making in the Xisha Islands.

484 Conclusions

485 In this study, our large-scale stratified survey revealed comprehensive diagnoses of six coral
486 regions in the Xisha Islands. DIs showed that coral reefs in the Xisha Islands are suffering
487 extensive deterioration as a result of natural and anthropogenic disturbances. Coral reefs of
488 Yongxing Dao and Langhua Jiao showed low recent deterioration, while Bei Jiao, Yongle Atoll,
489 Yuzhuo Jiao, and Panshi Yu reefs had high recent deterioration. These results highlight the need
490 for comprehensive management actions of the coral reefs in the Xisha Islands. Moreover,
491 continuous monitoring using DI is one component to estimate the long-term trends of coral
492 communities.

493 Acknowledgments

494 We would like to express our gratitude to Dr. Wang Liangming and Kuang Fangfang for their
495 assistance with temperature data processing. We also thank the reviewers for their constructive
496 and thorough comments that improved the manuscript.

497 References

- 498 Alvarez-Filip L, Gill JA, Dulvy NK, Perry AL, Watkinson AR, Côté IM. 2011. Drivers of
499 region-wide declines in architectural complexity on Caribbean reefs. *Coral Reefs* 30:1051–
500 1060 DOI: 10.1007/s00338-011-0795-6.
- 501 Ateweberhan M, Feary DA, Keshavmurthy S, Chen A, Schleyer MH, Sheppard CRC.
502 2013. Climate change impacts on coral reefs: synergies with local effects, possibilities for
503 acclimation, and management implications. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 74:526–539 DOI:
504 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2013.06.011.
- 505 Baird AH, Pratchett MS, Hoey AS, Herdiana Y, Campbell SJ. 2013. *Acanthaster planci* is a
506 major cause of coral mortality in Indonesia. *Coral Reefs* 32:803–812 DOI: 10.1007/s00338-
507 013-1025-1.
- 508 Ben-Tzvi O, Loya Y, Abelson A. 2004. Deterioration Index (DI): a suggested criterion for
509 assessing the health of coral communities. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 48:954–960 DOI:
510 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2003.11.022.

Deleted: To

Deleted: I

Deleted: will be

Deleted: for us

Deleted: our

Deleted: the

Deleted: directly

Deleted: Anyway

Deleted: a

Deleted: for

Deleted: is

Deleted: specific needed

Deleted: s

Deleted: a

Deleted: the

Deleted: This

Deleted: s

Deleted: of

Deleted: for

Deleted: crucial

Deleted: development

535 **Ben-Tzvi O, Al-Zibdah M, Bresler V, Jamal Y, Abelson A. 2011.** Coral reef monitoring: from
536 cytological parameters to community indices. *Journal of Marine Biology* **2011**:1–11 DOI:
537 10.1155/2011/151268.

538 **Brito-Millán M, Vermeij MJA, Alcantar EA, Sandin SA. 2019.** Coral reef assessments based
539 on cover alone mask active dynamics of coral communities. *Marine Ecology Progress*
540 *Series* **630**:55–68 DOI: 10.3354/meps13128.

541 **Bruckner A. 2009.** The global perspective of incidence and prevalence of coral diseases, in
542 *Coral Health and Disease in the Pacific: Vision for Action*, eds Galloway S, Bruckner A &
543 Woodley C. NOAA Technical Memorandum NOS-NCCOS-97 and CRCP-7. National
544 Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Silver Spring, MD, 90–122.

545 **Burke L, Reynter K, Spalding M, Perry A. 2011.** *Reef at risk revisited*. Washington DC: World
546 Resources Institute.

547 **Dai CF, Zheng YR. 2020.** *Corals of Taiwan vol.1: Scleractinia Fauna*. Taipei: Owl Publishing.

548 **De'ath G, Fabricius KE, Sweatman HPA, Puotinen M. 2012.** The 27-year decline of coral
549 cover on the Great Barrier Reef and its causes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of*
550 *Sciences of the United States of America* **109**:17995–17999 DOI:
551 10.1073/pnas.1208909109.

552 **Díaz-Pérez L, Rodríguez-Zaragoz FA, Ortiz M, Cupul-Magaña AL, Carriquiry JD, Ríos-**
553 **Jara E, Rodríguez-Troncoso AP, García-Rivas MC. 2016.** Coral reef health indices
554 versus the biological, ecological and functional diversity of fish and coral assemblages in
555 the caribbean sea. *PLoS ONE* **11**:e0161812 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0161812.

556 **Dwivedi AK, Mallawaarachchi I, Alvarado LA. 2017.** Analysis of small sample size studies
557 using nonparametric bootstrap test with pooled resampling method. *Statistics in Medicine*
558 **36**:2187–2205 DOI: 10.1002/sim.7263.

559 **Eakin CM, Sweatman HPA, Brainard RE. 2019.** The 2014–2017 global-scale coral bleaching
560 event: insights and impacts. *Coral Reefs* **38**:539–545 DOI: 10.1007/s00338-019-01844-2.

561 **Frieler K, Meinshausen M, Golly A, Mengel M, Lebek K. 2013.** Limiting global warming to
562 2°C is unlikely to save most coral reefs. *Nature Climate Change* **3**:165–170 DOI:
563 10.1038/nclimate1674.

564 **Gattuso JP, Hoegh-Guldberg O, Pörtner HO. 2014.** “Cross-chapter box on coral reefs,” in
565 *Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability Part A: Global and Sectoral*
566 *Aspects Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the*
567 *Intergovernmental Panel of Climate Change*, eds Field CB, Barros VR, Dokken DJ, Mach
568 KJ, Mastrandrea MD, Bilir TE, et al. Cambridge, New York, NY: Cambridge University
569 Press, 97–100.

570 **Gledhill DK, Wanninkhof R, Millero FJ, Eakin M. 2008.** Ocean acidification of the Greater
571 Caribbean Region 1996–2006. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **113**:C10031 DOI:
572 10.1029/2007JC004629.

573 **Green EP, Bruckner AW. 2000.** The significance of coral disease epizootiology for coral reef
574 conservation. *Biological Conservation* **96**:347–361 DOI: 10.1016/S0006-3207(00)00073-2.

575 Halpern BS, Walbridge S, Selkoe KA, Kappel CV, Micheli F, D'Agrosa C, Bruno JF,
576 Casey KS, Ebert C, Fox HE, Fujita R, Heinemann D, Lenihan HS, Madin EMP, Perry
577 MT, Selig ER, Spalding M, Steneck R, Watson R. 2008. A global map of human impact
578 on marine ecosystems. *Science* **319**:948–952 DOI: 10.1126/science.1149345.

579 Head CEL, Bayley DTI, Rowlands G, Roche RC, Tickler DM, Rogers AD, Koldewey H,
580 Turner JR, Andradi-Brown DA. 2019. Coral bleaching impacts from back-to-back 2015–
581 2016 thermal anomalies in the remote central Indian Ocean. *Coral Reefs* **38**:605–618 DOI:
582 10.1007/s00338-019-01821-9.

583 Healthy Reefs Initiative. 2008. *Eco-health report card for the Mesoamerican reef: an*
584 *evaluation of ecosystem health*.

585 Heron SF, Eakin CM, Douvres F. 2017. *Impacts of climate change on world heritage coral*
586 *reefs: a first global scientific assessment*. Paris, UNESCO World Heritage Centre.

587 Hill J, Wilkinson C. 2004. *Methods for ecological monitoring of coral reefs: a resource for*
588 *managers*. Australian Institute of Marine Sciences & Reef.

589 Hoegh-Guldberg O, Mumby PJ, Hooten AJ, Steneck RS, Greenfield P, Gomez E, Harvell
590 CD, Sale PF, Edwards AJ, Caldeira K, Knowlton N, Eakin CM, Iglesias-Prieto R,
591 Muthiga N, Bradbury RH, Dubi A, Hatziaelos ME. 2007. Coral Reefs under rapid climate
592 change and ocean acidification. *Science* **318**:1738–1742 DOI: 10.1126/science.1152509.

593 Hoegh-Guldberg O, Poloczanska ES, Skirving W, Dove S. 2017. Coral reef ecosystems under
594 climate change and ocean acidification. *Frontiers in Marine Science* **4**:158 DOI:
595 10.3389/fmars.2017.00158.

596 Huang H, You F, Lian JS, Yang JH, Li XB, Dong ZJ, Zhang CL, Yuan T. 2011. Species
597 diversity and distribution of scleractinian coral at Xisha Islands, China. *Biodiversity Science*
598 **19**:710–715 DOI: 10.3724/SP.J.1003.2011.06132.

599 Huang H. 2018. *Coral reef atlas of Xisha Islands*. Beijing: Science Press.

600 Huang H, Chen Z, Huang LT. 2021. *Status of coral reefs of China 2010–2019*. Beijing: Ocean
601 Press.

602 Hughes TP, Baird AH, Bellwood DR, Card M, Connolly SR, Folke C, Grosberg R, Hoegh-
603 Guldberg O, Jackson JBC, Kleypas J, Lough JM, Marshall P, Nyström M, Palumbi
604 SR, Pandolf JM, Rosen B, Roughgarden J. 2003. Climate change, human impacts, and
605 the resilience of coral reefs. *Science* **301**:929–933 DOI: 10.1126/science.1085046.

606 Hughes TP, Barnes ML, Bellwood DR, Cinner JE, Cumming GS, Jackson JBC, Kleypas J,
607 van de Leemput IA, Lough JM, Morrison TH, Palumbi SR, van Nes EH, Scheffer M.
608 2017. Coral reefs in the Anthropocene. *Nature* **546**:82–90 DOI: 10.1038/nature22901.

609 Hughes TP, Anderson KD, Connolly SR, Heron SF, Kerry JT, Lough JM, Baird AH, Baum
610 JK, Berumen ML, Bridge TC, Claar DC, Eakin CM, Gilmour JP, Graham NAJ,
611 Harrison HB, Hobbs JPA, Hoey AS, Hoogenboom MO, Lowe RJ, McCulloch MT,
612 Pandolfi JM, Pratchett M, Schoepf V, Torda G, Wilson SK. 2018. Spatial and temporal
613 patterns of mass bleaching of corals in the Anthropocene. *Science* **359**:80–83 DOI:
614 10.1126/science.aan8048.

615 **Ibrahim N, Mohamed M, Basheer A, Ismail H, Nistharan F, Schmidt A, Naeem R, Abdulla**
616 **A, Grimsditch G. 2017.** *Status of coral bleaching in the Maldives in 2016*. Marine
617 Research Centre, Malé, Maldives.

618 **Jackson J, Donovan M, Cramer K, Lam W. 2014.** *Status and trends of Caribbean coral reefs:*
619 *1970–2012*. Gland, Switzerland: Global Coral Reef Monitoring Network, IUCN.

620 **Kayal M, Vercelloni J, De Loma TL, Bosserelle P, Chancerelle Y, Geoffroy S, Stievenart C,**
621 **Michonneau F, Penin L, Planes S, Adjeroud M. 2012.** Predator crown-of-thorns starfish
622 (*Acanthaster planci*) outbreak, mass mortality of corals, and cascading effects on reef fish
623 and benthic communities. *PLoS ONE* 7:e47363 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.1999.tb00098.x.

624 **Kroeker KJ, Kordas RL, Crim R, Hendriks IE, Ramajo L, Singh GS, Duarte CM, Gattuso**
625 **JP. 2013.** Impacts of ocean acidification on marine organisms: quantifying sensitivities and
626 interaction with warming. *Global Change Biology* 19:1884–1896 DOI: 10.1111/gcb.12179.

627 **Li YC, Han YD, Chen SQ, Chen X, Zhou ZD. 2015.** Damages of coral reef ecosystem by the
628 giant clam excavation—a case study on North Reef of Xisha Islands. *Journal of Applied*
629 *Oceanography* 34:518–524 DOI: 10.3969/J.ISSN.2095-4972.2015.04.009.

630 **Li YC, Zheng XQ, Chen SQ, Xie HQ. 2016.** Coral bleaching in the North Reef of China's
631 Xisha Islands in 2014. *BMC Ecology* 16:03 DOI: 10.1186/s12898-016-0095-7.

632 **Li YC, Chen SQ, Zheng XQ, Cai ZF, Wu ZJ, Wang DR, Lan JX. 2018.** Analysis of the
633 change of hermatypic corals in Yongxing Island and Qilanyu Island in nearly a decade.
634 *Acta Oceanologica Sinica* 40:97–109.

635 **Li YC, Wu ZJ, Liang JL, Chen SQ, Zhao JM. 2019.** Analysis on the outbreak period and
636 cause of *Acanthaster planci* in Xisha Islands in recent 15 years. *Chinese Science Bulletin*
637 64:3478–3484 DOI: 10.1360/TB-2019-0152.

638 **McCook LJ, Ayling T, Cappo M, Choat JH, Evans RD, De Freitas DM, Heupel M, Hughes**
639 **TP, Jones GP, Mapstone B, Marsh H, Mills M, Molloy FJ, Pitcher CR, Pressey RL,**
640 **Russ GR, Sutton S, Sweatman H, Tobin R, Wachenfeld DR, Williamson DH. 2010.**
641 Adaptive management of the Great Barrier Reef: a globally significant demonstration of the
642 benefits of networks of marine reserves. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*
643 107:18278–18285 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0909335107.

644 **McField M, Kramer PR. 2007.** *Healthy reefs for healthy people: a guide to indicators of reef*
645 *health and social well-being in the Mesoamerican reef region*. 208 pp.

646 **Moran PJ, De'ath G. 1992.** Estimates of the abundance of the crown-of-thorns starfish
647 *Acanthaster planci* in outbreaking and non-outbreaking populations on reefs within the
648 Great Barrier Reef. *Marine Biology* 113:509–515 DOI: 10.1007/BF00349178.

649 **Morrison TH, Hughes TP, Adger WN, Brown K, Lemos MC. 2019.** Save reefs to rescue all
650 ecosystems. *Nature* 573:333–336 DOI: 10.1038/d41586-019-02737-8.

651 **NOAA Headquarters. 2016.** *Coral reefs facing a hot time and increased bleaching, especially*
652 *along US coasts: hotter-than-normal ocean temperatures continuing for third consecutive*
653 *year*. ScienceDaily.

654 **Nakamura M, Okaji K, Higa Y, Yamakawa E, Mitarai S. 2014.** Spatial and temporal
655 population dynamics of the crown-of-thorns starfish, *Acanthaster planci*, over a 24-year
656 period along the central west coast of Okinawa Island, Japan. *Marine Biology* **161**:2521–
657 2530 DOI: 10.1007/s00227-014-2524-5.

658 **Nolan MKB, Schmidt-Roach S, Davis AR, Aranda M, Howells EJ. 2021.** Widespread
659 bleaching in the One Tree Island lagoon (Southern Great Barrier Reef) during
660 record-breaking temperatures in 2020. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* **193**:590
661 DOI: 10.1007/s10661-021-09330-5.

662 **Pielou EC. 1966.** Species-diversity and pattern-diversity in the study of ecological succession.
663 *Journal of Theoretical Biology* **10**:370–383 DOI: 10.1016/0022-5193(66)90133-0.

664 **Pratchett MS, Caballes CF, Wilmes JC, Matthews S, Mellin C, Sweatman HPA, Nadler
665 LE, Brodie J, Thompson CA, Hoey J, Bos AR, Byrne M, Messmer V, Valero-
666 Fortunato S, Chen CCM, Buck ACE, Babcock RC, Uthicke S. 2017.** 30 years of
667 research on crown-of-thorns starfish (1986–2016): scientific advances and emerging
668 opportunities. *Diversity* **9**:41 DOI: 10.3390/d9040041.

669 **R Core Team. 2020.** *R: a language and environment for statistical computing*. R Foundation for
670 Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.

671 **Risk MJ, Heikoop JM, Edinger EN, Erdmann MV. 2001.** The assessment ‘toolbox’:
672 community-based reef evaluation methods coupled with geochemical techniques to identify
673 sources of stress. *Bulletin of Marine Science* **69**:443–458.

674 **Sakai K, Singh T, Lguchi A. 2019.** Bleaching and post-bleaching mortality of *Acropora* corals
675 on a heat-susceptible reef in 2016. *PeerJ* **7**:e8138 DOI: 10.7717/peerj.8138.

676 **Schleussner CF, Lissner TK, Fischer EM, Wohland J, Perrette M, Golly A, Rogelj J,
677 Childers K, Schewe J, Frieler K, Mengel M, Hare W, Schaeffer M. 2016.** Differential
678 climate impacts for policy-relevant limits to global warming: the case of 1.5°C and 2°C.
679 *Earth System Dynamics* **7**:327–351 DOI: 10.5194/esdd-6-2447-2015.

680 **Selig ER, Casey K, Bruno JF. 2010.** New insights into global patterns of ocean temperature
681 anomalies: implications for coral reef health and management. *Global Ecology and
682 Biogeography* **19**:397–411 DOI: 10.1111/j.1466-8238.2009.00522.x.

683 **Shannon CE. 1948.** A mathematical theory of communication. *Bell System Technical Journal*
684 **27**:623–656 DOI: 10.1002/j.1538-7305.1948.tb01338.x.

685 **Shi XJ. 2019.** *Guide to corals of Nansha Islands*. Qingdao: China Ocean University Press.

686 **Sweatman H, Delean S, Syms C. 2011.** Assessing loss of coral cover on Australia’s Great
687 Barrier Reef over two decades, with implications for longer-term trends. *Coral Reefs*
688 **30**:521–531 DOI: 10.1007/s00338-010-0715-1.

689 **Timmers M, Bird C, Skillings D, Smouse P, Toonen R. 2012.** There's no place like home:
690 crown-of-thorns outbreaks in the central Pacific are regionally derived and independent
691 events. *PLoS ONE* **7**:e31159 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0031159.

692 **Trapon ML, Pratchett MS, Penin L. 2011.** Comparative effects of different disturbances in
693 coral reef habitats in Moorea, French Polynesia. *Journal of Marine Biology* **2011**:807625
694 DOI: 10.1155/2011/807625.

695 **Woodley CM, Downs CA, Bruckner AW, Porter JW, Galloway SB. 2016.** *Diseases of coral.*
696 Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

697 **Wu ZJ, Wang DR, Tu ZG, Li YC, Chen JR, Zhang GX. 2011.** The analysis on the reason of
698 hermatypic coral degradation in Xisha. *Acta Oceanologica Sinica* **33**:140–146.

699 **Yang HQ, Yu KF, Zhao MX, Shi Q, Tao SC, Yan HQ, Chen TY, Liu GH. 2015.** Impact on
700 the coral reefs at Yongle Atoll, Xisha Islands, South China Sea from a strong typhoon direct
701 sweep: Wutip, September 2013. *Journal of Asian Earth Sciences* **114**:457–466 DOI:
702 10.1016/j.jseaes.2015.04.009.

703 **Yates KK, Moyer RP. 2010.** *Effects of ocean acidification and sea-level rise on coral reefs.*
704 Center for Integrated Data Analytics Wisconsin Science Center.

705 **Yu KF. 2012.** Coral reefs in the South China Sea: their response to and records on past
706 environmental changes. *Science China Earth Sciences* **55**:1217–1229 DOI:
707 10.1007/S11430-012-4449-5.

708 **Zhao MX, Yu KF, Shi Q, Yang HQ, Riegl B, Zhang QM, Yan HQ, Chen TY, Liu GH, Lin**
709 **ZY. 2016.** The coral communities of Yongle atoll: status, threats and conservation
710 significance for coral reefs in South China Sea. *Marine and Freshwater Research* **67**:1888–
711 1896 DOI: 10.1071/MF15110.